
Village of Libertyville Board of Trustees Meeting
AGENDA

February 9, 2016
 8:00 p.m.

Village Hall Board Room

Roll Call

Items Not On The Agenda
(presentation of items not on the Agenda will be limited to three (3) minutes) 

Omnibus Vote Agenda

Minutes Of The January 26, 2016 Meeting

Minutes of the January 26, 2016 Meeting.pdf

Bills For Approval

Agenda Item 3B.pdf

Approve Return Of Maintenance Bond - School Street Development

Agenda Item 3C.pdf

Ordinance: Declare Surplus Property

Agenda Item 3D.pdf

Ordinance: Amend Municipal Code Re: Watersense Labeling

Agenda Item 3E.pdf

Ordinance: Authorize Vacation Of Unimproved Alley

Agenda Item 3F.pdf

Approve Raffle License Request - Lake County Haven

Agenda Item 3G.pdf

Request Use Of Village Property - Lake County Green Congregations

Agenda Item 3H.pdf

ZBA Report - Perimeter Open Space Variation - Copeland School

Agenda Item No 4.pdf

Request Use Of Village Property - Libertyville Days

Agenda Item No. 5.pdf

Approve Request For Independent Contractor And Consultant Agreement - Dog Days Of Summer

Agenda Item No. 6.pdf

Resolution: Declare TIF Surplus

Agenda Item No. 7.pdf

Resolution: Approve Agreements For FAU Roadway Project

Agenda Item No. 8.pdf

Petitions & Communications

Adjournment

Any individual who would like to attend but because of a disability needs some 
accommodation to participate should contact the ADA Coordinator at 118 West Cook 

Avenue, Libertyville, Illinois 60048 (847) 362-2430.  Assistive listening devices are 

available.

1.

2.

3.

a.

Documents:

b.

Documents:

c.

Documents:

d.

Documents:

e.

Documents:

f.

Documents:

g.

Documents:

h.

Documents:

4.

Documents:

5.

Documents:

6.

Documents:

7.

Documents:

8.

Documents:

9.

10.



Village of Libertyville Board of Trustees Meeting
AGENDA

February 9, 2016
 8:00 p.m.

Village Hall Board Room

Roll Call

Items Not On The Agenda
(presentation of items not on the Agenda will be limited to three (3) minutes) 

Omnibus Vote Agenda

Minutes Of The January 26, 2016 Meeting

Minutes of the January 26, 2016 Meeting.pdf

Bills For Approval

Agenda Item 3B.pdf

Approve Return Of Maintenance Bond - School Street Development

Agenda Item 3C.pdf

Ordinance: Declare Surplus Property

Agenda Item 3D.pdf

Ordinance: Amend Municipal Code Re: Watersense Labeling

Agenda Item 3E.pdf

Ordinance: Authorize Vacation Of Unimproved Alley

Agenda Item 3F.pdf

Approve Raffle License Request - Lake County Haven

Agenda Item 3G.pdf

Request Use Of Village Property - Lake County Green Congregations

Agenda Item 3H.pdf

ZBA Report - Perimeter Open Space Variation - Copeland School

Agenda Item No 4.pdf

Request Use Of Village Property - Libertyville Days

Agenda Item No. 5.pdf

Approve Request For Independent Contractor And Consultant Agreement - Dog Days Of Summer

Agenda Item No. 6.pdf

Resolution: Declare TIF Surplus

Agenda Item No. 7.pdf

Resolution: Approve Agreements For FAU Roadway Project

Agenda Item No. 8.pdf

Petitions & Communications

Adjournment

Any individual who would like to attend but because of a disability needs some 
accommodation to participate should contact the ADA Coordinator at 118 West Cook 

Avenue, Libertyville, Illinois 60048 (847) 362-2430.  Assistive listening devices are 

available.

1.

2.

3.

a.

Documents:

b.

Documents:

c.

Documents:

d.

Documents:

e.

Documents:

f.

Documents:

g.

Documents:

h.

Documents:

4.

Documents:

5.

Documents:

6.

Documents:

7.

Documents:

8.

Documents:

9.

10.

http://www.libertyville.com/39714b66-8eed-491c-a378-990a08628285
























































































  

                                                                                   Agenda Item No.       4 

 

 

 

 

 VILLAGE BOARD AGENDA SUPPLEMENT 

 

 

Meeting Date:  February 9, 2016 

 

Agenda Item:  REPORT OF THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (ZBA 15-31, 

Variation of Perimeter Landscaped Open Space) – Libertyville School 

District 70, Applicant 

   801 S. 7
th

 Avenue 

 

Staff Recommendation to ZBA: Approve variation for Perimeter Landscaped Open Space. 

 

ZBA Recommendation:   To approve.  Upon approval, an ordinance will be drafted for 

Village Board action. 

 

Staff Contact:  John P. Spoden, Director of Community Development 

 

 

Background:  School District 70 is proposing to construct an addition to Copeland School to 

eliminate two mobile classrooms and replace a gymnasium.  The proposed construction is to be built 

within zoning setbacks.  However, a proposed drive aisle is to be constructed within the required 50 

foot Perimeter Landscaped Open Space.  The original proposal to place parking spaces in line with 

existing spaces approximately 4 feet from the north property line and construct a parking lot along 7
th
 

Avenue were both withdrawn by the petitioner. 

 

Members of the Zoning Board of Appeals concurred with the request as the drive aisle location will 

be less of an encroachment than the existing parking spaces.  A motion to recommend Village Board 

of Trustees approval passed with a vote of 5 – 1, with the dissenter noting a dissatisfaction with the 

proposed removal of a basketball court to lessen impervious coverage at the site. 

 

Four positive votes are required for approval. 

 

 

 



1 

REPORT OF THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

 

REPORT ON: ZBA 15-31, Libertyville School District 70 

 

TO THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE 

OF LIBERTYVILLE, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 60048. 

 

Pursuant to the APPLICATION of LIBERTYVILLE SCHOOL DISTRICT 70, being the 

OWNER of real estate located at 801 S. 7TH AVENUE, the ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS of 

the Village of Libertyville held a PUBLIC HEARING to consider the APPLICATION FOR A 

VARIATION TO REDUCE THE MINIMUM REQUIRED PERIMETER LANDSCAPED 

OPEN SPACE ALONG THE INTERIOR SIDE PROPERTY LINE FROM 50 FEET TO 

APPROXIMATELY 21 FEET IN ORDER TO EXPAND PARKING LOT AREAS FOR 

PROPERTY LOCATED IN AN IB, INSTITUTIONAL BUILDINGS DISTRICT, CHAPTER 

26, SECTION 13-2.1, according to the provisions cited in the Libertyville Municipal Code as 

amended, with the aforesaid real estate being described in Exhibit A, attached. 

 

The aforesaid PUBLIC HEARING was duly advertised on NOVEMBER 28, 2015, and held at 

7:00 P.M., commencing on DECEMBER 14, 2015, and concluding on JANUARY 25, 2016, in the 

Village Hall, 118 West Cook Avenue, Libertyville, Illinois.  Written notice was served by certified 

mail, return receipt requested to all property owners within 250 feet of the site. 

 

At the PUBLIC HEARING the applicant and witnesses were duly sworn and questioned by the 

Zoning Board of Appeals. 

 

From the evidence and testimony submitted, the Zoning Board of Appeals of the Village of 

Libertyville hereby find the following: 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS: 

 

Background: 

 

On December 14, 2015, School District 70 was before the Zoning Board of Appeals requesting 

approval for variations to reduce the minimum required Perimeter Landscaped Open Space along the 

front and interior side property lines in order to expand parking lot areas for property located in an 

IB, Institutional Buildings District at 801 S. 7th Avenue. 

 

The scope of work included the replacement of two mobile classrooms by constructing a building 

addition to permanently accommodate the classroom space, the addition of a gymnasium and an 

additional 39 parking spaces to bring the total parking space count to 89.  Two areas of the school 

grounds were subject to additional parking.   

 

One such area is to extend the existing parking lot along the north property line an additional 23 

parking spaces to the west.  This existing parking lot is approximately four (4’) feet setback from the 

north property line and the proposed parking lot extension will be between 4.1 feet to 5.2 feet 



Report of the Zoning Board of Appeals, ZBA 15-31 

 

2 

setback from the north property line.  The variation needed for this parking lot expansion is to reduce 

the minimum required perimeter landscaped open space from 50 feet to approximately 4.1 feet. 

 

The second area, referred as the Alternate Parking Lot, is for the construction of a parking lot 

consisting of 16 parking spaces with a setback from the east (front) property line of approximately 25 

feet.  The variation needed for this parking lot expansion is to reduce the minimum required 

Perimeter Landscaped Open Space from 50 feet to approximately 25 feet.  The variation is required 

as the zoning line delineating the IB, Institutional Buildings District and the R-6, Single Family 

Residential District is located on the west side of Seventh Avenue. 

 

Parking Requirement: 

 

The Zoning Code requires 30% of the capacity for assembly space (new gymnasium).  One (1) space 

per classroom and one (1) space for each 250 square feet of administrative space is required.  Should 

the assembly space requirement exceed the classroom space requirement then the assembly space 

shall govern thereby waiving the requirement for the classroom space.  

 

 The petitioner states that the new gymnasium addition the facility shall seat 210 people.  This 

shall require 63 parking spaces. 

 The petitioner states that the new classroom space is replacing existing temporary modular 

classroom structure.  There is no net gain in classrooms so the number remains at 24 

classrooms.  This shall require 24 parking spaces.  As the assembly space requirement 

exceeds the classroom requirement, the required parking is 63 spaces plus four (4) spaces for 

the administrative offices.  Therefore the parking requirement is 67 spaces. 

 

December 14, 2015, Zoning Board of Appeals Public Hearing: 

 

During the course of the December 14, 2015 public hearing, the applicant presented their requests, 

testimony by the public was heard, the Zoning Board of Appeals deliberated, and the matter was 

continued to the January 25, 2016 Zoning Board of Appeals meeting agenda in order to provide the 

petitioner an opportunity to revise their plans in response to the comments made. 

 

The petitioner has submitted revised plans for review and recommendation.  The Zoning Board of 

Appeals notes the following changes: 

 

 Elimination of the proposed “Alternate Parking Lot” previously located at the southeast 

corner of the school property. 

 Elimination of the proposed parking spaces along the north property line. 

 Location and identification of land-banked parking spaces on the western edge of the 

proposed parking expansion. 

 Adjustments to Site Data Table to reflect new proposed, land-banked, and total parking 

counts.  Total parking count is now at 67. 

 Adjustments to the proposed impervious Surface plan, including revisions to the calculation 

Table. 

 Increased landscape screening along the north property line. 



Report of the Zoning Board of Appeals, ZBA 15-31 

 

3 

 Addition of a bicycle rack area at the northwest corner of the proposed gym addition. 

 

The Zoning Board of Appeals finds that carrying out of the strict letter of the provisions of the  

Zoning Code would create a practical difficulty or particular hardship for the applicant. The 

requested variation does satisfy each of the standards listed in Section 16-8.7 of the Zoning Code, as 

follows: 

 

a. General Standard.  No variation shall be granted pursuant to this Section 16-8 unless the 

applicant shall establish that carrying out the strict letter of the provisions of this Code would 

create a particular hardship or a practical difficulty.  Such a showing shall require proof that 

the variation being sought satisfies each of the standards set forth in this Section 16-8.7. 

 

b. Unique Physical Condition.  The subject lot is exceptional as compared to other lots subject 

to the same provision by reason of its unique physical condition, including the presence of an 

existing use and structure and exceptional topographical features inherent in the subject lot. 

 

c. Not Self-Created.  The aforesaid unique physical condition is not the result of any action or 

inaction of the owner or its predecessors in title, other than the construction of structures that 

were lawful at the time of such construction, and existed at the time of the enactment of the 

provisions from which a variation is sought or was created by as a result of natural forces or 

governmental action, other than the adoption of this Code. 

 

d. Denied Substantial Rights.  The carrying out of the strict letter of the provision from which a 

variation is sought would deprive the owner of the subject lot of substantial rights commonly 

enjoyed by owners of other lots subject to the same provision. 

 

e. Not Merely Special Privilege.  The alleged hardship or difficulty is neither merely the 

inability of the owner or occupant to enjoy some special privilege or additional right not 

available to owners or occupants of other lots subject to the same provision. 

 

f. Code and Plan Purposes.  The variation would not result in a use or development of the 

subject lot that would not be in harmony with the general and specific purposes for which 

this Code and the provision from which a variation is sought, were enacted or the general 

purpose and intent of the Official Comprehensive Plan. 

 

g. Essential Elements of the Area.  The variation would not result in a use or development on 

the subject lot that: 

 

1) Would be materially detrimental to the public welfare or materially injurious to the 

enjoyment, use, development, or value of property or improvements permitted in the 

vicinity; or 

2) Would materially impair an adequate supply of light and air to the properties and 

improvements in the vicinity; or 

3) Would substantially increase congestion in the public streets due to traffic or parking; 

or 



Report of the Zoning Board of Appeals, ZBA 15-31 

 

4 

4) Would unduly increase the danger of flood or fire; or 

5) Would unduly tax public utilities and facilities in the area; or 

6) Would endanger the public health or safety. 

 

h. No Other Remedy.  There is no means other than the requested variation by which the alleged 

hardship or difficulty can be avoided or remedied to a degree sufficient to permit a 

reasonable use of the subject lot. 

 

WHEREFORE, the Zoning Board of Appeals of the Village of Libertyville, Lake County, Illinois is 

recommending to the Village President and the Board of Trustees, that this APPLICATION FOR A 

VARIATION TO REDUCE THE MINIMUM REQUIRED PERIMETER LANDSCAPED 

OPEN SPACE ALONG THE INTERIOR SIDE PROPERTY LINE FROM 50 FEET TO 

APPROXIMATELY 21 FEET IN ORDER TO EXPAND PARKING LOT AREAS FOR 

PROPERTY LOCATED IN AN IB, INSTITUTIONAL BUILDINGS DISTRICT be 

APPROVED. 

 

The vote of the Zoning Board of Appeals recommending APPROVAL was 5 - 1, recorded as 

follows: 

 

AYES: MOORE, FLORES, KRUMMICK, OAKLEY, SEMMELMAN 

 

NAYS: SCHULTZ 

 

ABSENT: COTEY 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, February 3, 2016. 

 

 

 

      _______________________________________ 

                     Chair, Zoning Board of Appeals 

 

 

 

      _______________________________________ 

                  Secretary, Zoning Board of Appeals 

 



Report of the Zoning Board of Appeals, ZBA 15-31 

 

5 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Legal Description of the Property 

 

That Part of the Following Described Property Lying in the Northwest Quarter of the Southwest 

Quarter of Section 22: 

 

A Tract of Land Lying in the Southeast Quarter of Section 21 and the Southwest Quarter of Section 

22, all in Township 44 North, Range 11, East of the Third Principal Meridian; Described as 

Commencing at the Southeast Corner of Lot 235 in Copeland Manor South Subdivision, According 

to the Plat Thereof, Recorded in the Office of the Recorder of Lake County, Illinois, as Document 

277293; Thence South Along the Westerly Line of Seventh Ave. Extended South 600.0 Feet; Thence 

West at Right Angles to the Last Described Line 1093.55 Feet to a Point in the East Line of Fourth 

Ave; Extended South, Said Line Being a Prolongation of the East Line of Fourth Ave.; Extended 

South, Said Line Being a Prolongation of the East Line of Fourth Ave. Abutting Lots 109 to 117 

Inclusive in the Above Mentioned Copeland Manor South Subdivision; Thence North Along the Last 

Described Line 517.4 Feet to the Point of Intersection of the Last Described Line With the Southerly 

Line of Lots 245 to 249 Inclusive of Said Copeland Manor South Subdivision Extended Westerly; 

Thence Northeasterly Along the Southerly Line of Said Lots 245 to 249 and Said Line Extended 

496.75 Feet to the Southeast Corner of Said Lot 245; Thence East Along the South Line of Lots 244 

to 234 Inclusive 605.0 Feet to the Place of Beginning all in the Village of Libertyville, Lake County, 

Illinois.  Situated in the County of Lake and the State of Illinois. 

 

 



 

1 

EXCERPTS FROM ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING MINUTES 

 

Draft January 25, 2016, Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting Minutes 

 

ZBA 15-31 Libertyville School District 70, Applicant 

  801 S. 7
th

 Avenue 

 

Request is for a variation to reduce the minimum required Perimeter Landscaped 

Open Space along the interior side property line from 50 feet to approximately 21 feet 

in order to expand parking lot areas for property located in an IB, Institutional 

Buildings District. 

 

Mr. David Smith, Senior Planner, stated that on December 14, 2015, School District 70 was before 

the Zoning Board of Appeals requesting approval for variations to reduce the minimum required 

Perimeter Landscaped Open Space along the front and interior side property lines in order to expand 

parking lot areas for property located in an IB, Institutional Buildings District at 801 South 7th 

Avenue. 

 

Mr. Smith stated that the scope of work included the replacement of two mobile classrooms by 

constructing a building addition to permanently accommodate the classroom space, the addition of a 

gymnasium, and additional parking spaces. 

 

Mr. Smith stated that during the course of the December 14, 2015 public hearing, the applicant 

presented their requests, testimony by the public was heard, the Zoning Board of Appeals 

deliberated, and the matter was continued to the January 25, 2016 Zoning Board of Appeals meeting 

agenda in order to provide the petitioner an opportunity to revise their plans in response to the 

comments made. 

 

Mr. Smith stated that the applicant has submitted revised plans for review and recommendation and 

some of the changes include the elimination of the proposed “Alternate Parking Lot” previously 

located at the southeast corner of the school property which eliminates the need of one of the two 

requested variations.  He stated that the petitioner is also proposing the elimination of the proposed 

parking spaces along the north property line thus reducing some of the encroachment into the side 

yard Perimeter Landscaped Open Space.  He stated that six of the required parking spaces will be 

landbanked on the western edge of the proposed parking expansion. 

 

Mr. Peter Graves, architect for the petitioner, presented the revisions to the Site Plan.  He stated that 

the proposed alternate parking lot located at the southeast corner of the site has been removed.  He 

stated that the north row of parking along the north property line has been removed and now they are 

down to the minimum required number of parking spaces which is 67.  He stated that the proposed 

67 spaces include six landbanked parking spaces.  He stated that they have revised the landscape plan 

to show an increase in plantings along the north property line and the parking drive extension.  He 

stated that they have made adjustments to the proposed parking lot landscaped islands as well. 

 

Mr. Jim Young, 713 Glendale Road, stated that when he bought his home after doing the proper 

amount of due diligence including learning that the adjacent school property that backs up to his 



 

2 

property is subject to a 50 foot setback.  He stated that the School District does not have a 

compelling reason to justify the encroachment with the parking lot extension as the demographics of 

the school’s near future enrollment is not changing.  He stated that the reduction will be from 50 feet 

to 21 feet.  He stated that the Copeland Manor should continue to use the parking spaces that they 

have. 

 

Mr. Graves stated that of the 10 parking spaces they are adding, which is a requirement of the Zoning 

Code, six of them will be landbanked. 

 

Mr. Young stated the School District should reduce the number of parking spaces as they do not have 

a compelling reason to justify the variation request. 

 

Mr. Graves stated that the proposed extension of the parking lot aisle also serves to provide better 

vehicular circulation and access for the refuse collection. 

 

Mr. John Glenn, 629 Hampton Terrace, stated that sometime between 12 to 15 years ago the School 

District contemplated additional improvements to the property, but discovered that there was some 

type of deed restriction that hampered the plans and the proposed development didn’t get off of the 

ground.  He stated that the School District should consider researching this issue. 

 

Mr. Sean Gay, 643 Glendale, stated that he is concerned about the storm water management and 

further questions the necessity of the changes to the school property. 

 

Mr. Donald Dixon, GHA engineer for petitioner, stated that they are required to install onsite 

detention if the there is a net increase of 200 square feet of impervious area.  He stated that with their 

plan there is actually a net decrease of 1000 square feet of impervious area.  He stated that their plan 

includes the removal of the outdoor hard court area.  He stated that the parking lot extension includes 

barrier curbs that will help catch and manage the storm water.  He stated that the grade will change 

but that the water will be managed and channeled into a catch basin. 

 

Mr. Young asked why the court had to be removed.  Mr. Dixon stated that the impervious area 

needed to be reduced in order to meet the code. 

 

Mr. Young stated that the school property works fine as it is today. 

 

Mr. Amerigo Carnazzola, 722 Valley Park Drive, asked if the refuse enclosure could be relocated to 

the edge of the existing pavement.  He stated that although he supports the building additions, he 

does not support the expansion of the parking lot as the parking study completed for this project 

indicates that during the peak parking period is still under the current number of parking spaces. 

 

Board Member Oakley thanked the petitioner for making the changes to the plan. 

 

Board Member Flores stated that is better now that cars won’t be facing towards the back yards of 

the Glendale residents.   

 

Board Member Semmelman thanked the petitioner for making the changes to the plan. 



 

3 

Board Member Krummick inquired if the proposed classroom space will be larger.  Mr. Graves 

stated that the foot print of the building will increase, but the number of classrooms will not increase. 

 

Board Member Krummick stated that if the school building was constructed new today, it would be a 

very different layout.  He requested further clarification of the proposed extension of the parking area 

on the north side of the site.  Mr. Graves stated that it serves as an improvement of accessing the 

refuse enclosure and for better traffic circulation. 

 

Board Member Schultz stated that he welcomes the revisions and that the changes are in the right 

direction.  He asked for further clarification of the existing asphalt behind the building and what the 

area is being used for.  Mr. Graves stated it that it serves as a play lot and the students line up there 

as well.  He stated that they keep it snow plowed during the winter. 

 

Board Member Schultz stated that he is surprised that the school would choose to lose the outdoor 

hard court play area and not replace it. 

 

Chairman Moore stated that he finds it difficult to understand that the School District would place 

more value on the parking than the outdoor hard court play area. 

 

Mr. Graves stated that a significant influence on their decision for the extended parking area was to 

more efficiently provide a better access to the relocated refuse enclosure for trash pick up. 

 

Chairman Moore stated that it is disconcerting that the school would replace the outdoor hard court 

play area with parking.  He stated that this plan does not make sense. 

 

Mr. Graves stated that they could look at incorporating multiple uses for the parking lot extension.  

He stated that it could possibly also serve as a play area. 

 

Board Member Schultz stated that the design would have to be different. 

 

Board Member Krummick stated that that he agrees with Board Member Schultz and that the multi-

use area would have to be functional. 

 

Mr. Graves stated that the extended portion of the parking area is at least 70 feet by 70 feet and 

should be able to accommodate a dual purpose. 

 

Board Member Schultz asked what the outcome would be if the school kept the existing outdoor 

hard court play area.  Mr. Graves stated that the School District would then be required to install a 

storm water management detention system. 

 

Mr. Fred Chung, Senior Project Engineer, stated that it would also require a Watershed Development 

Ordinance permit. 

 

Chairman Moore stated the school should provide an outdoor play area.  He stated that they should 

give consideration to the future need and plan for it. 

 



 

4 

In the matter of ZBA 15-31, Board Member Semmelman moved, seconded by Board Member 

Krummick, to recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a variation to reduce the minimum 

required Perimeter Landscaped Open Space along the interior side property line from 50 feet to 

approximately 21 feet in order to expand parking lot areas for property located in an IB, 

Institutional Buildings District for property located in an IB, Institutional Buildings District, in 

accordance with the plans submitted. 

 

Motion carried 5 - 1. 

 

Ayes:  Moore, Flores, Krummick, Oakley, Semmelman 

Nays:  Schultz 

Absent: Cotey 

 

December 14, 2015, Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting Minutes 

 

ZBA 15-31 Libertyville School District 70, Applicant 

  801 S. 7
th

 Avenue 

 

Request is for variations to: 1) reduce the minimum required Perimeter Landscaped 

Open Space along the interior side property line from 50 feet to approximately 21.1 

feet; and 2) reduce the minimum required Perimeter Landscaped Open Space along the 

front property line from 50 feet to approximately 25 feet in order to expand parking lot 

areas for property located in an IB, Institutional Buildings District. 

 

Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, introduced the petitioner’s requests.  He 

stated that School District 70 is requesting approval for variations to reduce the minimum required 

Perimeter Landscaped Open Space along the front and interior side property lines in order to expand 

parking lot areas for property located in an IB, Institutional Buildings District at 801 South 7th 

Avenue.  Mr. Spoden stated that the petitioner is proposing to improve Copeland Manor Elementary 

School’s facility by eliminating a mobile classroom, adding permanent classroom space and a new 

gymnasium, as well as associated site improvements including accessible routes and additional off-

street parking.  He stated that the proposed parking lot expansions require the Variations to reduce 

the minimum required Perimeter Landscaped Open Space.   

 

Mr. Spoden stated that the Zoning Code requires that for all uses in the IB, Institutional Buildings 

District, there shall be provided a Perimeter Landscaped Open Space with a minimum width of no 

less than fifty (50) feet along every lot line when abutting any Residential District. 

 

Mr. Peter Graves, architect and representative of the petitioner, presented the proposed changes for 

the Copeland Manor Elementary School.  He stated that the proposed improvements are intended to 

replace the mobile classrooms.  He stated that the existing gymnasium is original with the rest of the 

school building that was constructed in 1956 and that the new gymnasium will be more conducive to 

current curriculum.  He stated that additional parking is proposed in order to meet the Zoning Code 

requirement relative to the other improvements.  He stated that the north parking lot will be extended 

to the west and an alternate new parking area is proposed at the southeast corner of the site as well.   

 



 

5 

Mr. Graves stated that the current existing building is approximately 47,000 square feet.  He stated 

that the proposed additions comprise approximately 13,000 square feet bringing the total to 

approximately 60,000 square feet in floor area.  He stated that the existing number of parking spaces 

is 52 spaces and they are proposing to increase that number to a total of 90 spaces which includes the 

alternate parking area at the southeast corner of the site.   

 

Mr. Graves stated that the north parking lot extension incorporates landscaped island.  He stated that 

the refuse area has been relocated outside of the fifty (50) foot setback.  He stated that a portion of 

the hard play area will be removed in order to accommodate the parking lot extension.   

 

Mr. Anthony McCormally, 719 East Glendale, stated that he is concerned about safety, aesthetics, 

and impact upon the flood plain.  He stated that the back of his property abuts the school property 

and will be adjacent to the proposed parking lot extension.  He stated that his daughter and many 

other school children who walk to school will be walking through the parking lot which appears that 

it will become a drop-off area.  He stated that many children walk from Fourth Avenue along the 

paved bike path on the school’s property up to and across where the proposed parking lot extension 

is located.  He stated that there is a safety concern.  He stated that children may be forced to walk 

along Glendale which does not have a sidewalk and then turn right onto Seventh Avenue.  He stated 

that he is concerned about the impact that the proposed parking lot extension will have on the 

aesthetics, the open green space and if there will be parking lot lights glaring onto his property.  He 

stated that he is concerned about the storm water runoff.   

 

Mr. Graves stated that the refuse area will be screened in accordance to the Village code, and that the 

engineering for the parking lot improvements will comply with the storm water management 

regulations and that any light spillage will be contained to not exceed the Village requirements.  He 

stated that that the foot candle illumination will be zero (0) at the property line.  He stated that the 

asphalt path coming from Fourth Avenue will be re-routed around the parking lot extension.   

 

Mr. McCormally stated that there will be an increased risk for the children walking to school who 

would cut through the parking lot.  He stated that the school might consider installing perimeter 

fencing in order to help alleviate the safety risk. 

Mr. Graves stated that the proposed perimeter landscaping was negotiated with Village Staff. 

 

Mr. Scott Nelson, 746 Seventh Avenue, stated he lives directly across the street from where they are 

proposing the alternate parking lot at the southeast corner of the school property.  He stated that he 

supports the elimination of this particular parking area from the plans.  He stated that he does not 

want to look a vehicle head lights from his property.   

 

Mr. Jim Young, 713 East Glendale, stated that they bought their home in 2013.  He stated that they 

like the land because it is close to the school with a great back yard adjacent to the open green space. 

 He stated that he investigated the zoning before purchasing the property and learned that there is a 

50 foot setback required for the school property.  He stated that he understands that the school wants 

to reduce the parking on the street during special events.  He stated that special events have been 

held at Copeland Manor for a long time. 

 



 

6 

Mr. Young stated he believes that the school does not have a compelling reason for the variation 

request and hopes that the school consider other options without extending the parking lot behind his 

house.   

 

Mr. Florin Mitran, 754 Seventh Avenue, stated that he lives directly across the street from Copeland 

Manor and has three children who attend school there.  He said that one of their reasons for buying 

their home was because of the green space across the street.  He stated that most people park along 

Seventh Avenue for report card pick-up or other similar type events.  He stated that the current traffic 

and parking management seems to work okay without the need for the proposed additional 

alternative parking lot.  He is concerned about the negative impact that the parking area would have 

on the green space. 

 

Mr. John Suhayda, 766 Seventh Avenue, stated that this proposal will contribute to the slow erosion 

of the residential nature of this block.  He stated that the school has been a good neighbor and he 

applauds the school’s effort to be active participant in the community but is concerned about the 

negative impact that the proposed parking lots will have on the community and the residential 

property values.   

 

Mr. Kevin Garren, 736 Seventh Avenue, stated that he does not support the loss of valuable green 

space.  He stated that he is not in favor of expanding parking areas surrounding the school.  He stated 

that he does not mind the street parking. 

 

Mr. John Glen, 629 Hampton, stated that he has lived in the Copeland Manor area since 1989 and his 

kids went to school there.  He stated that he agrees that the school has been a very good neighbor.  

He stated that he would rather have cars parked on the streets for certain events in lieu of allowing 

more parking area on the school site itself.  He stated that he is concerned that if the north parking lot 

is extended per the plan that the Glendale residents will install additional privacy fencing along the 

new parking lot extension along the west.   

 

Ms. Jennifer Maslic, 740 Seventh Avenue, stated that she just moved into her residence about two 

months ago.  She stated that she is concerned about the reduction of green space.  She asked about 

the number of parking spaces proposed for the new parking area adjacent to Seventh Avenue. 

 

Mr. Graves stated that sixteen (16) spaces are proposed for the parking lot located in the southeast 

corner of the school property.   

 

Ms. Maslic stated that she is concerned about the loss of green space and does not understand the 

need for the alternate 16 space parking lot.  

 

Mr. Amerigo Carnazzola, 722 Valley Park Drive, stated that the proposed alternate parking lot is a 

bad idea as it would take away the only good flat green space on the school property.   He stated that 

he would rather the school let people park on the street than to expand the asphalt for on-site parking. 

 He stated that he does not believe that the school has a compelling reason for the parking lot 

expansion.   

 



 

7 

Mr. Graves stated that enrollment at Copeland Manor is trending flat.  He stated that they are adding 

classrooms to replace the temporary modular classroom structures.   

 

Mr. Carnazzola stated that he supports the building addition but does not support the reduction of 

green space for the expanded parking lots.   

 

Ms. Lisa Mitron, 754 Seventh Avenue, asked if the building expansion is triggering the requirement 

for increased number of parking spaces.  Mr. Graves stated that the increase in parking is based on 

the Zoning Code regulation. 

 

Ms. Mitron stated that she is concerned about the potential impact on storm water management.   

 

Mr. Graves stated that the civil engineering plans are required to address the storm water 

management and that there will be collection of water as part of those plans.  

 

Mr. Don Dixon, Civil Engineer representing the applicant, stated that the parking lot is required to be 

curbed and storm water will be managed. 

 

Mr. Mike Lucas, 728 Valley Park Drive, stated that if the school enrollment is flat then there doesn’t 

appear to be a need for more parking.  He stated that he does not support the loss of green space on 

the school property.  He stated that he does not have a problem with the use of the street for parking 

during certain events at the school. 

 

Mr. Lucas asked about the parking lot lighting for the alternative parking lot near Seventh Avenue.  

Mr. Graves stated that no new lighting is proposed for that lot. 

 

Ms. Jane Emmerich, 753 Seventh Avenue, stated that her home is across the street from the proposed 

alternate parking lot and has lived there since August.  She stated that this plan is a waste of money 

in order to sacrifice the green space.  She stated that she is also concerned about the storm water 

drainage.  

 

Mr. Graves describe the proposed parking lot plan.  He stated that with the alternate parking lot 

included the total number of parking spaces would be 90.  He stated that currently there are 52 spaces 

on site and with the building improvements a minimum of 67 spaces are required.  He stated that a 

minimum of 15 more parking spaces are required.   

 

Board Member Schultz stated he knows the site well and that he has two children that attended 

Copeland Manor.  He stated that he knows that the gymnasium addition is necessary.  He stated that 

there didn’t seem to be any objections to the gym addition and the replacement of the mobile 

classrooms.  He stated that he does not support the alternate parking lot at the southeast corner of the 

school site.  He asked the applicant if they would be interested in reducing the proposed number of 

parking spaces.  Mr. Graves stated that it is the Zoning Code that is forcing the School District to 

propose an increase in the number of parking spaces.  He stated that it would be the School District’s 

preference to not have to build the alternative parking lot. 

 

Board Member Schultz asked the applicant what the preferred number of parking spaces would be.  



 

8 

Mr. Graves stated that the School District does not foresee an increase in enrollment in the near 

future, but at the same time they do not want to sell themselves short relative to the parking lot 

improvements and they want to take advantage of the economies of scale that would come into play. 

 He stated that at a minimum they want to construct the parking lot improvements along the north 

property line.  He stated that they might be willing to reduce the additional parking spaces by half.   

 

Board Member Schultz stated that due to the building additions and how they layout on the site plan, 

the proposal makes sense but inquired as to whether or not they can reduce the proposed number of 

parking spaces or not.  Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated that the 

Zoning Code would require only 67 total parking spaces so they can afford to reduce the number of 

spaces proposed. 

 

Board Member Schultz stated that the 22 additional spaces along the north property line could be cut 

down by seven (7) parking stalls.  He asked the petitioner if they would be willing to do that.  Mr. 

Graves stated that they would be willing to cut down the number of spaces. 

 

Board Member Schultz stated that street parking can help to accommodate the larger events 

conducted at the school.   

 

Mr. Graves stated that the extension of the parking lot along the north also provides easier access to 

the proposed refuse enclosure relocation. 

 

Board Member Schultz asked for clarification regarding the changes proposed for the outdoor hard 

court play area.  Mr. Graves stated that approximately half of the outdoor court play area will be 

removed as part of the parking lot extension. 

 

Board Member Schultz stated that the bike racks should be shown on the plan. 

 

Mr. Graves stated that they will be replaced. 

 

Board Member Schultz asked Village Staff if the Village would allow some of the proposed parking 

spaces to be landbanked.  Mr. Spoden stated that the Zoning Code permits parking space 

landbanking.   

 

Board Member Schultz asked if District 70, applicant, would be willing to landbank some of the 

parking spaces.  Mr. Graves stated that they would entertain the landbanking suggestion.   

 

Board Member Schultz asked why the alternate parking lot at the southeast corner of the school site 

is on the plan.  Mr. Graves stated that it became a secondary location to get the cars off of the street 

and that it was closer to the cafeteria.   

 

Board Member Schultz stated that he is not supportive of the alternate parking lot at the southeast 

corner of the school site.  He stated that for the parking lot extension along the north should be cut 

down to the bare minimum.  He stated that a privacy fence along the north property line should be 

considered as well. 

 



 

9 

Board Member Krummick stated the parking study provided by Gewalt Hamilton indicated that the 

peak capacity of the parking lot does not exceed 43 spaces occupied by vehicles.   He stated that as 

the building exists today that there is sufficient parking.  He stated that it seemed odd that the 

residents who have spoken have supported keeping cars parked on the street and not in the parking 

lot.  He asked why the petitioner is planning for 90 parking spaces when the Zoning Code requires a 

minimum of 67 parking spaces.  Mr. Graves stated that they have studied the school and its use for 

the property.  He stated that the southeast parking lot is planned as an alternate, not an immediate 

proposal to be constructed.  He stated that the intent was to address those who needed closer access 

to the cafeteria.   

 

Board Member Krummick stated that his initial thought about the alternate southeast parking lot was 

not that objectionable and had more concerns about the north parking lot extension.  He stated that 

after further discussion transpired, he realized that the alternate lot is not necessary.  He stated that 

consideration should be given to eliminated the nine (9) spaces on the north side of the north parking 

lot extension.  He stated that excessive paving should not be constructed if not needed. 

 

Board Member Semmelman stated that the southeast parking lot should be eliminated and the only 

install the number of spaces to meet the Zoning Code.  

 

Board Member Moore stated he is concerned about the request for the variance based upon a plan 

that far exceeds the minimum required number of parking spaces.  He asked if the site plan design 

would be different if it incorporated the minimum required number of parking spaces.  Mr. Graves 

stated that the primary focus was on the north lot.   He stated that it made sense to continue the 

northern edge line of the existing parking lot when planning the extension for appropriate traffic 

flow.  He stated in order to just plan for the minimum number of spaces required by code would not 

have been accomplished without the need for the setback variation anyway.  He stated that the 

additional parking spaces were part of a longer term planning process and to get parked cars off of 

the street. 

 

Board Member Moore stated that he would be more inclined to support a plan that came closer to 

meeting the Zoning Code requirements.   

 

Mr. Graves stated that one of the earlier plan versions contemplated no landscaped islands in the 

parking lot but then soon learned that this is not an authorized variation.  He stated that by 

incorporating the parking lot landscaped island forces the parking lot lane further out.  He stated that 

shifting the gymnasium further south would cause the loss of some classroom space. 

 

Board Member Flores asked if the petitioner considered utilizing the outdoor hard court play area for 

overflow parking when needed.  Mr. Graves stated that the current condition of the existing play area 

is such that it would have to be reconstructed in order to accommodate overflow parking. 

 

Board Member Flores stated that it seems like it would serve an appropriate long term problem and 

be a win-win outcome. 

 

Board Member Oakley stated that he understands the need for the gym and classroom addition but 

cannot see the need for the increase in the parking lot areas. 



 

10 

Mr. Jim Young, 713 Glendale, stated that the parking proposal does not make sense.  He stated that 

the petitioner’s reason for the parking lot expansion is to handle special events but the residents who 

spoke tonight indicated that they support overflow parking to take place on the street.  He stated that 

his home is directly behind the outdoor basketball court and if the school wanted to overflow park on 

that court he wouldn’t mind. 

 

Mr. Amerigo Carnazzola, 722 Valley Park Drive, stated that due to the traffic study indicating that 

the parking lot peaks between 41 and 43 parked cars in the school’s parking lot then it doesn’t make 

sense to add more parking spaces.  He stated that he supports the building additions, but to leave the 

green space as is. 

 

Chairman Cotey stated he would like for the petitioner to address the comments that were provided 

tonight.  He stated that he is recommending that these variation requests be continued to a future 

Zoning Board of Appeals meeting in order to provide the petitioner the opportunity to revise their 

plans.  He stated that the petitioner could consider including a fence to help buffer the parking lot 

improvements from the residential neighbors to the north.  He stated that he other option that could 

be considered is to opt for a parking variation in lieu of the setback variation.  He stated that the 

petitioner might also consider discussing the landbanked parking option with Village Staff.  He 

stated that the revised plans should show more detail as to where the handicap parking and bike racks 

are to be located on the site and how traffic will flow in the parking lots as well. 

 

In the matter of ZBA 15-31, Board Member Schultz moved, seconded by Board Member Semmelman, 

to continue this item to the January 25, 2016, Zoning Board of Appeals meeting. 

 

Motion carried 7 - 0. 

 

Ayes:  Cotey, Flores, Krummick, Moore, Oakley, Schultz, Semmelman 

Nays:  None 

Absent: None 

 

 































                                                                                      Agenda Item No.  6

                VILLAGE BOARD AGENDA SUPPLEMENT

Meeting Date: February 9, 2016

Agenda Item: Independent Contractor and Consultant Agreement with
Bill Kaiser for 2016 Dog Days of Summer Event

Staff Recommendation: Approve Agreement

Staff Contacts: Kevin Bowens, Village Administrator
Connie Kowal, Director of Recreation and Sports Complex

Background: Dog Days of Summer is an annual summer weekend event that has taken place in 
July in downtown Libertyville for the last seven (7) years.  Bill Kaiser, former owner of 
Pampered Pup’z, created the event to provide a weekend promotion with dog-friendly activities.  
The event has attracted good crowds and generated positive publicity for the Village.  The event 
has benefitted local not-for-profit canine causes. The last couple of years Dog Days of Summer 
has financially been a break-even event.

Even though he sold his Pampered Pup’z business, Mr. Kaiser looks to have Dog Days of 
Summer continue in 2016.  He proposes to continue as promoter and operator of the event, but 
he is seeking Dog Days of Summer to become a Village sanctioned event in 2016.

Mr. Kaiser met with Mayor Weppler to discuss this topic and they both met with several 
Administrative Staff members to review scenarios for continuing Dog Days of Summer in 2016. 
This was discussed at the January 2016 meeting of the Parks & Recreation Committee and the 
Committee recommended that the 2016 Dog Days of Summer event would, for one year only, 
become a Village sanctioned event, with the Village retaining the services of Mr. Kaiser as an 
independent contractor to operate the event.   The Village would be financially responsible for 
the event and enter into all required contracts.  Mr. Kaiser would be responsible for operating all 
aspects of the event for the Village.  Mr. Kaiser would submit written reports to the Village on a 
weekly basis updating the financial and operational status to help ensure no worse than break-
even financial results and a well operated event.   Mr. Kaiser would receive $10 for his services.  



The Village would pay for, or reimburse Mr. Kaiser,  for insurance costs needed for the event.

The Parks & Recreation Committee recommends the Village enter into the attached Independent 
Contractor and Consultant Agreement with Bill Kaiser for the planning, coordination and 
execution of the 2016 Dog Days of Summer event for the Village. Four positive votes are 
required for approval.

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AND CONSULTANT AGREEMENT

This Independent Contractor and Consultant Agreement (Agreement) is entered into this 
____ day of ______________, 2016, by and between the Village of Libertyville, an Illinois 
Municipal Corporation (Village), and William Kaiser, an independent contractor (Contractor), in 
consideration of the mutual promises made herein.

WHEREAS, the Village is a municipal corporation organized and existing under the 
laws of the State of Illinois; and

WHEREAS, William Kaiser is an individual, the former owner of Puppy Karma, Inc. 
d/b/a Pampered Pup’z, and the former event organizer of the Dog Days of Summer annual event 
held in Cook Park in Libertyville, Illinois (DDOS); and

WHEREAS, Contractor no longer owns Puppy Karma, Inc. and no longer desires to be 
the primary corporate event sponsor of the DDOS, but rather desires act as a consultant, 
independent contractor and representative on behalf of the Village to plan, organize and execute 
the 2016 DDOS event as a Village sponsored event on July 7, 8, 9 & 10, 2016 in and around 
downtown Libertyville (the locations of which are to be determined and subject to Village 
approval); and

WHEREAS, the Village desires for the DDOS event and tradition to continue and to 
retain Contractor for his consulting experience, expertise and knowledge for the 2016 DDOS 
event.

WHEREAS, Contractor shall be responsible for all planning, coordination and execution
of the 2016 DDOS event, including communications with all sponsors, advertisers, vendors, 
service providers and suppliers for the event.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AND UNDERSTOOD by and between the 
Village of Libertyville and William Kaiser as follows:

Incorporation of Recitals:  The recitals set forth in this Agreement are, by this reference, 
incorporated into and deemed a part of this Independent Contractor and Consultant Agreement.

Term of Agreement:  This Agreement will become effective upon execution by all parties and 
will continue in effect until July 17, 2016 and/or the completion and closure of all business 
related aspects of the 2016 DDOS event, whichever occurs later.

Relationship between the Parties:  The Village and Contractor agree and understand that they are
separate and independent entities/persons/organizations.  Neither party has authority to enter into
contracts or agreements that bind the other or create obligations on the part of the other.  



Contractor does not and shall not have authority to act as an agent of the Village, and Contractor 
shall not represent himself as acting as an agent of the Village.  The parties hereto agree and 
understand that neither has the right to control what the other does or the manner in which the 
other performs its duties and responsibilities.

Services to be Rendered by Contractor:  Contractor agrees to serve as the Village’s consultant 
and to coordinate, make all arrangements for and operate the 2016 Dog Days of Summer Event 
to be held in Libertyville (the locations of which are to be determined and subject to Village 
approval) on July 7 through July 10, 2016 (“the 2016 DDOS Event”) including the collection, on
behalf of the Village of all payments made by vendors, exhibitors or participants in the event. 
Contractor will be responsible to determine the methods, details, and means of performing the 
above-described services, including the determination of the need for and hiring of assistants at 
the Contractor’s own expense. The Village may not control, direct, or otherwise supervise 
Contractor's assistants or employees in the performance of those services. 

Compensation:  In consideration for the services rendered by the Consultant, the Village agrees 
to pay to the Consultant the sum of $10.00, plus an amount equal to 10% of all net profits earned 
by the Village, if any, in connection with the 2016 DDOS Event.  The Village also agrees to pay 
for or reimburse Contractor for the insurance required under this Agreement, provided such 
premium amount is preapproved by the Village in advance and in writing.

Contracts:  Any and all contracts or agreements with any vendors, sponsors, advertisers, 
suppliers, service providers or others for the 2016 DDOS Event shall be entered into and made, 
in writing, with the Village.  Any and all monies paid by any sponsors or vendors for the event 
shall be issued to the Village, not Contractor.  The Village shall be responsible for the payment 
of the expenses for the 2016 DDOS Event, provided they are in writing and were pre-approved 
by the Village.

Records and Accounting:  Contractor shall provide the Village with copies of any and all 
agreements, registrations, contracts, invoices, payments, receipts or other documents or records 
related to the 2016 DDOS Event.  Contractor shall, upon execution of the Agreement and 
continuing until the completion of the 2016 DDOS Event, provide the Village notice of any 
significant changes and/or updates relative to the 2016 DDOS Event.  Additionally, Contractor 
shall, starting March 1, 2016 and continuing on a weekly basis thereafter, provide to the Village 
an accounting summary of all actual and/or anticipated income, expenses and receipts for the 
2016 DDOS Event.  Following the 2016 DDOS Event, Contractor shall provide the Village with 
a complete financial accounting of the 2016 DDOS Event, including any and all supporting 
documentation.  

Tools and Instruments:  Contractor shall supply all tools, equipment, and supplies required to 
perform his services under this Agreement. 

Workers Compensation:  Contractor agrees to provide workers' compensation insurance for 
Contractor, Contractor's employees and Contractor’s agents and agrees to hold harmless and 
indemnify the Village for any and all claims arising out of any injury, disability, or death of 
Contractor or any of Contractor's employees or agents. 

Insurance:  Contractor shall, commencing with the first day of this Agreement, procure, keep, 
carry and maintain at its own cost and expense (subject to reimbursement by the Village, as 
provided above) for the term created hereby, with a good and responsible insurance companies 



acceptable to the Village, with the Village being named therein as an additional insured, 
Comprehensive General Liability Insurance, Property Damage and Worker’s Compensation 
Insurance with limits in the minimum amounts of one million dollars ($1,000,000.00) per 
occurrence and two million dollars ($2,000,000.00) in the aggregate.  Copies of the insurance 
policies shall be delivered to and held by the Village.  

Obligations of the Village:  The Village agrees to meet the terms of all reasonable requests of 
Contractor necessary for the performance of Contractor's duties under this Agreement.  

Assignment:  Neither this Agreement nor any duties or obligations under this Agreement may be 
assigned by the Contractor without the prior written consent of the Village. 

Notices:  Any notices to be given hereunder by either party to the other may be effected either by
personal delivery or by mail, registered or certified, postage prepaid with return receipt 
requested, or via FedEx overnight delivery. Mailed or overnighted notices shall be addressed, if 
to the Village at: 118 West Cook Avenue, Libertyville, IL 60048, and if to William Kaiser: c/o 
Lee Donuts, 124 Peterson Road, Libertyville, IL 60048.  Notices delivered personally shall be 
deemed communicated as of the date of actual receipt; mailed notices shall be deemed 
communicated as of three (3) days after the date of mailing; overnighted notices shall be deemed 
communicated as of one (1) day after the date of sending. 

Entire Agreement:  This Agreement supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in 
writing, between the parties hereto with respect to the performance of services by Contractor for 
the Village, and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 
the rendering of such services in any manner whatsoever. 

General Provisions:  Each party to this Agreement acknowledges that no representations, 
inducements, promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or 
anyone acting on behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and that no other 
agreement, statement, or promise not contained in this Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any 
modification of this Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing signed by the party to be 
charged. 

Partial Invalidity:  If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction
to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the remaining provisions shall nevertheless continue in full 
force without being impaired or invalidated in any way. 

Governing Law:  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of Illinois.

Village of Libertyville

__________________________
By: Terry L. Weppler
Village President
118 W. Cook Avenue
Libertyville, Illinois 60048

__________________________
Date



William Kaiser

__________________________
William Kaiser

__________________________
Date


























































